1953

Tommie Maurine Brown v. Harold Cook and Cora Cook : Brief of Defendant and Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

This action was brought by plaintiff (respondent) upon her complaint and a Writ of Habeas Corpus to determine the custody of a minor child. Upon failure to present the child in court, the defendent Harold Cook was found guilty of contempt. A judgment awarding the custody of the child to the plaintiff as against the defendants and a judgement of contempt against the defendant (appellant) Harold Cook was entered. From this judgment the defendant Harold Cook appeals.

STATEMENT OF CASE

The respondent the natural mother of a minor child, Ronald Glen Cook, age 3, brought this action by way of Writ of

Habeas Corpus served upon the paternal grandparents, Harold Cook and Cora Cook, who at that time were keeping and caring for the minor child during the absence of the child's father, Glen H. Cook, who was serving in the Armed Forces of the United States. The Writ was issued upon the complaint and request of the respondent, the plaintiff in the initial action.

The record shows that the Writ of Habeas Corpus was served by the Deputy Sheriff of Uintah County on the 1st day of December, 1952, wherein the appellant and defendants (hereinafter to be known as the defendants) were ordered to bring the person of Ronald Glen Cook, the minor child, before the court on the 9th day of December, 1952, to be dealt with according to law. The complaint prayed for an award of custody to the mother. The record indicates that, following the service of the Writ of Habeas Corpus, the grandparents, the defendants, contacted the father of the child, Glen H. Cook, and informed him of the nature of the action and that they were ordered by Writ of Habeas Corpus to bring the child to court and that the question of the child's custody would there be dealt with. Some time in the evening of the 8th day of December, 1952, the natural father of the child, Glen H. Cook, returned to the home of one of his sisters, where the defendants were with the child, took the child and left and did not return. The defendants were thus unable to be present in court with the child as ordered. This inability resulted in a judgment of contempt against the defendant Harold Cook.

The defendant, Harold Cook, the grandfather, was the only one to take the stand, and he testified that the father of the child came and took the child while he and his wife were at the home of their daughter, that the child was taken by his natural father to his own home. When the defendants returned,

they found the infant's clothing gone, but the car belonging to the father of the child was left at the home of the defendants.

The father of the child was never made a party to this action, nor was any attempt made to serve him either by personal service or by publication. The record shows that the plaintiff obtained a divorce from the child's father some time in June of 1952 and that she remarried immediately thereafter. These divorce proceedings were first instituted in January of 1952. After the plaintiff filed action for divorce, she admitted that she had never attempted to get the custody of the child from the father (R. 29).

Only the plaintiff and the defendant Harold Cook testified. The record shows that the court, upon hearing the evidence adduced, found the defendant Harold Cook guilty of contempt and ordered him to pay a fine of \$150.00 and sentenced him to be confined in the county jail for a period of 30 days. No affidavit was filed formally charging the defendant with contempt of court.

The execution of the sentence imposed for contempt was suspended for a period of 10 days, in which the court directed the defendant to obtain the child from the natural father and turn him over to the natural mother either in Utah or in North Dakota and take a receipt for said child. If this was complied with, the jail sentence together with \$100.00 of the fine would be suspended, and the defendant would be required to pay only the sum of \$50.00. The Findings of Fact filed and signed found the plaintiff was the mother of the infant, age 3, and that the defendants were his paternal grandparents; that the natural father had left the child with his parents (defendants) during his absence in the Armed Forces of the United States; that plaintiff had obtained a divorce from the natural father of the

child and remarried within a few days thereafter but that such action did not disqualify her to her rights of custody to the minor child; that the plaintiff as the natural mother was awarded the custody as against the defendants. A decree was accordingly entered awarding plaintiff custody as against the defendants grandparents of the minor child. No determination was made as between the rights of the natural mother (the plaintiff) and the father (who was not made a party to the action) to the custody of the child.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The defendant Harold Cook assigns the following errors upon which he relies for reversal of the decree and judgment appealed from and for an order of this court directing the trial court to make and enter judgment of dismissal of this matter.

1. The trial court erred in awarding the custody of the child to his natural mother, the plaintiff, since the child was out of the court's jurisdiction and was never before the court for the court to determine such custody as between the mother and any persons.

2. The court erred in holding the defendant Harold Cook in contempt without the filing of an affidavit as required by the provisions 78-32-3 (104-45-3).

3. The court erred in finding the defendant guilty of contempt since there is no evidence in the record to sustain or support such a finding.

4. The court erred in holding the defendant guilty of contempt on the basis that the defendant did not notify the Sheriff

of the father's return or his counsel or counsel for the plaintiff (R. 41).

5. The court erred in holding that the defendant permitted the natural father of the child to take the infant in question (R. 42) and that such was a violation of the order of the court. The evidence in the record fails to show that the defendants were ever in a position to refuse the natural father of the child his right to the control and custody of the infant.

6. The court erred in holding that the defendant could purge himself of the jail sentence and \$100.00 of the \$150.00 fine imposed by obtaining the custody of the child and transferring the same to the natural mother either in Vernal or in North Dakota. By so doing the court in effect determined that the plaintiff was entitled to custody of the child as against the natural father of the child, who is not made a party to the action, and was an attempt to coerce the natural father into the delivery of the custody of the child without due process of law and the opportunity to be heard.

7. The court erred in holding the defendant Harold Cook in contempt and imposing judgment and fine on him on the ground that he was not given the opportunity to answer and present evidence as required by 78-32-9, (104-45-9).

8. The court lacked jurisdiction to sentence the defendant for contempt on the ground that no findings of fact or conclusions of law were made or entered by the court and the same were not waived by the defendant.

9. The court erred in imposing punishment without notice of the charge of contempt as required by law.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

THAT TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AWARDING THE CUSTODY OF THE CHILD TO ITS NATURAL MOTHER, SINCE THE CHILD WAS OUT OF THE JURISDICTION OF THE COURT.

The record shows that the infant, Ronald Glen Cook was never before the court, and there is no showing in the record that the court acquired jurisdiction of his person. The court held (R. 42) that the natural father had taken the child out of the court's jurisdiction. The attention of the court is particularly called to the wording of the Writ of Habeas Corpus served upon the defendants wherein they were commanded " . . . to appear before the Judge of the above entitled court on the 9th day of December, 1952, at the courtroom in the County Courthouse at Vernal, Utah, at the hour of 10:00 o'clock A.M., and to bring with you the person of Ronald Glen Cook, then and there to be dealt with according to law." The wording indicates that the jurisdiction of the infant was to be obtained upon his being presented in court. The authorities are in accordance that the jurisdiction of the courts of the state to regulate the custody of the infant does not depend upon the domicile of the parent but upon the residence of the child. This ruling is followed in cases where divorces are granted in states other than where the children reside. As an example of this, the record shows that the plaintiff obtained a divorce in the state of Wyoming but that custody was not awarded because the child was not there. The record shows that the child

was not in the court's jurisdiction and was probably out of the state of Utah at the time the court heard the matter (R. 43). No proceeding had been instituted against the father of the child, who had his custody, to place the child before the court to be dealt with according to law. (See *Sheehy vs. Sheehy*, 88 N.H. 223, 107 ALR 635; also *Finlay vs. Finlay*—New York Case—148 NE 624, 40 ALR 937).

POINT 2.

THE COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THE DEFENDANT HAROLD COOK IN CONTEMPT WITHOUT THE FILING OF AN AFFIDAVIT AS REQUIRED BY THE PROVISIONS OF 78-32-3 (104-45-3).

The provisions of the applicable statute, 78-32-3, (104-45-3), require the issuance of an affidavit to be presented to the court when the alleged contempt is not committed in its presence. The law recognizes two distinct types of contempt—direct and constructive. The direct contempts are those matters of contemptuous conduct or those which tend to impugn the dignity of the court which are committed in its presence or in the presence of the judge while at chambers. A direct contempt consists of words spoken or acts committed in the presence of the court or during its intermissions which tend to subvert, embarrass or prevent justice. These are acts which the court can see and take cognizance of itself and which it need not be advised of by third parties. Indirect or constructive contempts are those actions committed not in the presence of the court but at a distance from it which tend to degrade the court or obstruct, interrupt or prevent or embarrass the administration of justice. 12 Am. Jur. 390-392.

The statute above referred to reads as follows:

"When a contempt is committed in the immediate view and presence of the court, or judge at chambers, it may be punished summarily, for which an order must be made, reciting the facts as occurring in such immediate view and presence, adjudging that the person proceeded against is thereby guilty of a contempt, and that he be punished as prescribed in section 78-32-10 hereof. *When the contempt is not committed in the immediate view and presence of the court or judge at chambers, an affidavit shall be presented to the court or judge of the facts constituting the contempt, or a statement of the facts by the referees or arbitrators or other judicial officers.*" (Italics mine)

This matter was thoroughly discussed in the case of *Robinson vs. City Court for Ogden*, Weber County, et al., 112 U. 36, 185 P. (2d) 256, wherein the petitioner made a remark on or about the time he entered an elevator in the presence of the judge relative to the court being a "kangaroo court." The judge immediately took Robinson to the court and there imposed a judgment upon him for contempt, which was brought before this court on a Writ of Prohibition. It was held that the objectionable remark was not in the presence of the court or the judge at chambers. The court there held:

"It is necessary, in all proceedings for contempt which are not committed in the presence of the court, in order to give the court jurisdiction, that an affidavit or affidavits be presented to the court stating the facts constituting contempt. *Young v. Cannon*, 2 Utah 560; *Crowther et al., vs. District Court of Salt Lake County*, 93 Utah 586, 45 P. (2d) 243; *Jones v. Cox*, 84 Utah 568 37 P. (2d) 777. A contempt proceeding is separate and apart from the principle action and in order for the court to acquire jurisdiction of the offense when committed, as here, it is necessary that an affidavit or initiating pleading filed. *Unless this is done, subsequent proceedings are palpably null and void.*" (Italics mine)

This case also holds the affidavit takes the place of the complaint, and, whether the contempt be regarded as civil or criminal when not committed in the presence of the court or the judge in his chambers, the court is without jurisdiction to proceed until a pleading of some nature has been served on the accused and filed with the court. One of the purposes for an affidavit is to advise the defendant of the particular facts of which he is accused so that he may properly defend against the charge or offer such extenuating and justifiable circumstances as the facts may warrant. *supra*. Such right is a right of due process guaranteed by the Constitution of the State of Utah, Section 12, Article I.

The above cited case emphasized very well the necessity for an affidavit in cases of this type where the contempt is not committed in the presence of the court prior to the court's obtaining jurisdiction thereof. The following from the opinion is quoted:

"Not having been informed against, there would be no pleading in the district court and no way for the petitioner to legally know the nature and cause of the accusation against him. One might as well say that the court could, from the bench, inform a person he was guilty of burglary and sentence him to jail. In both instances the accused has been told the nature of the offense but not in the manner or the way required by the constitution and statutes of this state. Section 12, Article I, of the Constitution of the State of Utah gives to an accused in a criminal action the right to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him and to have a copy thereof. Section 104-45-3 (78-32-3), U.C.A., grants this same right to an accused in contempt proceedings when committed as in this proceeding."

Thus, the lack of an affidavit as contemplated by statute purged the trial court of any jurisdiction in its judgment of contempt and constitutes a reversible error.

POINT 3.

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE DEFENDANT GUILTY OF CONTEMPT SINCE THERE IS NO EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUSTAIN OR SUPPORT SUCH A FINDING.

It is a general rule that the evidence required prior to a conviction or a judgment in cases of criminal contempt must be beyond all reasonable doubt; that is, the degree of proof upon which the judgment or conviction is founded must be beyond all reasonable doubt. In other cases the courts make a requirement that the evidence upon which a conviction for contempt is sustained shall be by clear and convincing proof, which is regarded by most courts as more than a mere preponderance of the evidence. In many jurisdictions in which the violation of a civil injunction is considered criminal in its nature, mere preponderance of the evidence is insufficient to support a conviction. 12 Am. Jr. 44-2, 29 ALR 127, 49 ALR 978.

This court has held that, though sufficient facts might appear in the evidence upon which the court might sustain a conviction of contempt, this is nevertheless not sufficient. The court is required to investigate the charge against the accused: and the accused cannot be held guilty without a hearing, evidence and proof, *Herald Republican Pub. Co. vs. Lewis*, 42 U. 188, 129 U624. In the case above cited, it was held that, before a conviction could be had, the guilt of the accused must be established by clear and satisfactory evidence. A mere preponderance of the evidence not being enough.

The record fails to show anywhere a contumacious or wilful attitude on the part of the defendant Harold Cook to violate the order of the court. The defendant informed the father

of the child that he as under order to present the boy in court on the prescribed date prior to the father's taking the child with him. The record fails to show any cooperation on the part of the defendant with any person in the removal of the child. The record indicates that the father of the child did not specifically state when he was going nor where he was going with the child but stated merely, "I ain't going to stay here. I'm going to take him and go." (R. 31). On cross examination, the record shows the defendant told the father of the child that he was under order to have the child in court on the designated date. (R 33). The record shows that, after service of the Writ of Habeas Corpus, the defendant contacted his son in California and advised him of the nature of the proceeding (R. 32). The record shows that the father advised the defendant that he had had legal advice in the army (R. 35); and that, after being so advised, the defendant let the father take the boy. From the above there is no indication that the defendant committed a contempt in his violation of the order.

Further, it is required as a matter of law, before a person can be found guilty of contempt, that he must have the ability to perform the act required. Thus, it is held in the case of *Limb vs. Limb*, 113 U. 385, 195 P. (2d) 263, that a person who puts forth every reasonable effort to comply with the court order and is still unable to do so is not guilty of contempt on account of such failure. In the case of *Foreman vs. Foreman*, 111 U. 72, 176 P. (2d) 144, this court held that, before a court is justified in awarding damages in a contempt proceeding, the court must consider the ability of the party charged with contempt to perform. In *Hillyard vs. District Court of Cache County*, 68 U. 220, 249 P 806, this court held:

"Under the authorities cited and the uniform holdings of the courts, it is a prerequisite in contempt pro-

ceedings of the nature here under review to an order committing to jail that the one charged should be found able to comply with the court's order or that he had intentionally deprived himself of the ability to comply with such order. The court did not make such a finding. The language of section 6829, *supra*, seems to be mandatory that findings are necessary to support a judgment in actions in which the court is required to make findings unless such findings are waived."

Thus, in the instant case, there must be evidence to show that the defendant, by his acts, deprived himself of the ability to perform the order of the court. This is not borne out by the evidence before the court.

POINT 4.

THE COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THE DEFENDANT GUILTY OF CONTEMPT ON THE BASIS THAT THE DEFENDANT FAILED TO NOTIFY THE SHERIFF, HIS COUNSEL OR COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF OF THE FATHER'S RETURN.

The defendant was charged with contempt, as far as can be determined from the record for permitting the child's father to take the child and on the basis that he failed to inform his counsel, the Sheriff, or counsel for the plaintiff of the father's returning and taking the child with him. It is axiomatic that one cannot be placed under obligation by indirect means to the court. Had the court through some process made the defendant the child's keeper and charged him with the well-being and safety of the child in question subsequent to the issuance of the Writ of Habeas Corpus and prior to the hearing by some proper proceeding, there may then have been some ground for the contention that the defendant violated a trust in not notifying the Sheriff or the court or some

other individuals of the father's taking the child. However, nothing contained in the Writ places upon the defendants any compulsion or obligation relative to the court other than that directly recited therein. The defendants were not the sheriff, nor were they officers of the court. They were merely individuals who were striving to the best of their ability to care for and protect their grandchild for a temporary and indefinite period of time, and the discharge of any such voluntary obligation did not or could not carry with it any obligations to the court upon which the court could hold the defendant in contempt. Such failure on the part of the defendant to immediately inform his counsel or other authorities as indicated by the trial court may have been imprudent, but it was certainly not contemptuous when one considers that the objectionable act or acts occurred in the wintertime, in the afternoon or evening and in a rural area, to-wit, Davis Ward (rural area 6½ miles southeast from Vernal). The record shows that early the next morning counsel for the defendant was notified and that immediately after notification counsel for the plaintiff was contacted and so informed of the removal of the child.

It is noted that there is contention made by the plaintiff that the defendant, by notifying the father by telephone or other communication, was in violation of the spirit of the Habeas Corpus. The record fails to show that the plaintiff at any time sought to make the natural father a party to any action concerning the custody of the infant. The record fails to show any effort on the part of the plaintiff or her counsel or any attempt by them to communicate with the natural father of the child. No service was ever sought upon the natural father by the plaintiff, and the record seems to indicate that this action was merely an abortive attempt on the part of the plaintiff to acquire the custody of the child in the ab-

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