1953

Tommie Maurine Brown v. Harold Cook and Cora Cook : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

In *Smythe vs. Smythe*, 28 Okl. 2826, 114 P. 257, the Court had before it facts very similar to those here involved, except that the writ of habeas corpus was directed against the father of a minor child rather than against the grandparent.

The court reviewed the general law, which is to the effect that contempts are divided into two classes (1) Direct contempts committed in the presence of the Court, and (2) Constructive contempts which arise out of matters not transpiring in the presence of the Court. The Court reviewed numerous authorities and holds that violation of an order to produce the person of a minor child constitutes a direct contempt of the court in its presence.

As indicated in 12 Am. Jur. 391, Contempt Sec. 4: "Negative acts may also constitute direct contempt, as for instance, failure to produce a prisoner at a trial or hearing" . . . At page 390 of the same work the classification is noted, that direct or indirect contempt depends upon whether the contempt is committed within or outside the presence of the court.

The reason, of course, for an affidavit where the contempt is committed out of the presence of the court is to apprise the court of the facts claimed to constitute contempt. The theory is that the court is unaware of the disparagement of its dignity or authority in such case, and it is necessary therefore that the court in some way be advised of the violation. This is illustrated in the ordinary situation of an alimony or support money order which is not complied with. The proper vehicle to bring to the court's attention the failure to comply with the court's order would be by affidavit.

Examine for a moment the facts of this case. Did not the Court have the full and complete knowledge of the failure of the defendant Harold Cook to produce the boy before him? How would an affidavit have provided the court with any more or additional information than it then had? As to the defendant Harold Cook's opportunity to defend against the contempt charged — his own counsel put him on the stand, and he was examined and cross-

examined at length. He can scarcely claim at this point that he was not given adequate notice of the contempt proceeding or that he lacked opportunity to defend against the charge.

Tested then, by the standard of whether the court knew of his own knowledge of the failure to comply with its order, it is apparent that this is not the situation contemplated by the statute where an affidavit would be required. Had counsel in this case prepared an affidavit, it would have recited exactly the facts which the court had first hand knowledge of, that is, that the defendant failed to bring the boy into court as ordered.

The contempt here committed and punished was a direct contempt committed in the presence of the Court. This also provides a full and complete answer to points No. 8 and 9 of Appellant's brief.

To amplify, however, in rebuttal of point 7 of appellant's brief, and to illustrate the lack of merit thereof, the record utterly fails to sustain the contention of the appellant that he was not given an opportunity to answer and present evidence as provided by law.

At page 2 of the transcript of testimony, as an introductory preface to the proceedings before the court, Counsel for petitioner stated:

MR. HAMMOND: In this matter your honor, the plaintiff and petitioner is ready to proceed. Mr. Nash has brought a matter to my attention in this. Perhaps we should inform the Court. Mr. Nash informs me that last night the father of the minor child came into Vernal and took him out of the state of Utah, as far as you know; is that right? Whereupon, the following colloquy took place:

MR. NASH: As far as the folks know. I was retained Saturday night, or Sunday, I should say, to go over this matter and to attempt a defense, and I was preparing it. And this morning I was advised that the father had taken the child. The parents are here, the grandparents, and the persons whom the writ was issued against, they are here in court.

THE COURT: Do you have any question about whether the grandparents may be guilty of contempt in allowing the child to go out, after service of the Order?

MR. HAMMOND: It would seem to me that they would be, because the child was here when they were served with an order requiring them to have him in court this morning.

MR. NASH: The grandparents — I explored that possibility, your Honor, and I don't see how they could be guilty of contempt, because the custody of that child was not awarded to the grandparents.

THE COURT: It doesn't make any difference. They had it when the order was served.

It is apparent therefore, that the matter of contempt of court was raised at the very outset of the hearing. Not only that, but Mr. Harold Cook was called as a witness by his counsel, and the gist of his examination was an abortive attempt to justify his failure to comply with the order of the court rather than being directed to the question of right of custody as between the mother and the paternal grandparents (Tr. 30, 31, 32).

At page 32 of the transcript of evidence the court said:

“The questions that are before the court i. e., whether or not this Court could decree her right to the child as against the defendants, and the question of the contempt of the defendant Harold Cook, are matters which the Court doesn’t want to decide hastily, and the Court will therefore take those two matters under advisement.”

* * *

“Of course as to Mr. Cook, it must be understood that if the Court calls him back for entry of any order in respect to the contempt motion that is made, that he will respond. Otherwise the Court will issue a bench warrant for him. You will also advise him of that fact, will you not?”

Thereupon, the court took the matter under advisement and did not rule thereon until the after-

noon of December 11, 1952, at which time the Court reviewed for counsel at some length the evidence and the law before making his findings as to contempt.

Thus, to this point there can be no question but that appellant and his counsel were well aware of the contempt proceeding in progress and had done what they could to rebut it. If appellant felt that he had not been given an adequate hearing (since quite obviously he had been given a hearing and had attempted a defense) then it was incumbent upon him to raise this matter with the court in order that a fuller hearing could be had if he so desired. This he did not do, and in fact, in answer to the question asked by the Court as set out by appellant in his brief at page 20, as to whether defendant was prepared to receive judgment of the court, counsel for defendant answered: (Tr. 42) "He is, your honor." In response to the query of the court as to whether any reason existed why judgment should not be pronounced at that time, the defendant answered: (Tr. 42) "No."

At all stages of the proceeding the defendant Harold Cook was apprised of the fact that the court was reviewing the question of contempt of court for failure to comply with the writ of habeas corpus; and therefore no merit exists in point 7 of appellant's brief.

POINT III

The evidence sustains the order of the Court committing defendant Harold Cook for contempt of Court.

In point 3, 4 and 5 of appellants brief they attack the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the findings as made by the Court with respect to the contempt proceeding arising out of the habeas corpus proceeding and the failure of Harold Cook to produce the boy as ordered by the Court.

We have heretofore reviewed the facts which prompted the court to hold the appellant Harold Cook in contempt. To recapitulate however, the writ commanding the defendants to produce the boy was served upon them at a time when they held physical custody of the child, and could comply with the order. Defendant immediately set about to render the order of the court impossible of performance by telephoning and telegraphing his son to the effect that he better come home. Upon the son arriving the evening before the morning upon which the child was to be produced, despite the fact that the son quite clearly and distinctly, and under circumstances which could scarcely have been misunderstood, indicated to the defendant Harold Cook, that he proposed to take the child out of the State (Tr. 31), the defendant Harold Cook did absolutely nothing to alter this course of events. To the contrary, the evasive attitude of the defendant in court, his very apparent

effort to avoid the effect of his own testimony when it became apparent to him that he had already said too much, make it amply clear that the whole course of events was intended for the sole purpose of getting the child out of the reach of the petitioner in violation of the order of the court. In so doing, he not only made no reasonable effort to insure that he could comply with the order of the Court, but actively sought to thwart that order.

The chain of events is such that only one conclusion logically follows; that the defendant Harold Cook made every effort to thwart the order of the Court, made every effort to place it out of his power to comply with the order of the Court, and went to all lengths to prevent the court from discovering the truth of the matter at the hearing. As the court expressed it: "The court feels strongly that he connived with the father to take the child out of the jurisdiction of the Court. That was a direct violation of the order of the court. His testimony before the court establishes the fact of his contemptuous conduct and the court does find him guilty of contempt." (Tr. 42).

The law is clear that where a person has rendered himself unable to comply with an order of the court he stands on the same footing as one having the ability who nonetheless refuses. 12 Am. Jur. Contempt p. 406, Sec. 24. At 12 Am. Jur. p. 439, Contempt Sec. 72, the statement is made:

“ . . . Where an alleged contemner, however has voluntarily and contumaciously brought on himself disability to obey an order or decree, he cannot avail himself of a plea of inability to obey as a defense to a charge of contempt. A person who seeks to satisfy the court that his failure to obey an order or decree was due entirely to his inability to render obedience without fault on his part, must prove such inability. . . ”

and see also to like effect *Mary Jane Stevens Company vs. Foley*, 67 Utah 578, 248 p. 815.

The court in determining that appellant Harold Cook was guilty of contempt of court found that the defendant failed to notify the sheriff or other official, his own counsel, or counsel for the plaintiff that Glen Cook was in the act of taking or had taken the child away. The court did not, as appellant suggests, base the entire contempt upon failure to perform any one of these acts, but to the contrary found these facts along with the facts heretofore enumerated were sufficient to indicate a contempt of court and that in other words, the defense asserted was insufficient. The court's judgment need not stand on any individual single finding with respect to the asserted defense of inability to comply, but all must be looked to in establishing the contempt.

When all of the facts are put together, that is, prior refusal to let the mother take the child; informing the father he better come home immediately,

defendants actions and knowledge with respect thereto and with respect to his son having taken the boy ostensibly to California the same evening, without any remonstrance or other attempt to stop him; his deliberate and calculated failure to notify anyone of these facts while opportunity existed to insure that the order of the court could and would be complied with, and his patent efforts at covering up the details of the transaction and evading direct answer to questions to the extent that the court concluded therefrom that he had connived with his son to defeat the order of the court, are sufficient in every respect to sustain the judgment of the court.

Appellant asserts that under the case of Sherry vs. Doyle, 68 Utah 74, 249 P. 250, this court has announced the rule that the father has the paramount right to care and custody of his children. Of course, this is a relative matter, and it is well established in this state that the mother has paramount right to the care and custody of children of tender years. Sec. 30-1-10, U.C.A. 1953; Briggs vs. Briggs, 111 Utah 418, 121 p. 2d 223; Baker vs. Baker, 110 Utah 462, 175 p. 2d 213.

Factually, the appellant can get no comfort from the Sherry vs. Doyle case, since the court merely held in a habeas corpus proceeding that as between the father and third persons that the father was entitled to custody.

The problem here involved is not one of paramount rights to custody of the child, but rather, can one having the ability to comply with an order stand by or even assist in rendering it impossible to comply with the order of the court, then come before the court and say "I can't now comply because I let someone having a paramount right take the child." In this instance the important thing was an order of the court, which was paramount and prior to any custodial rights of any of the parties involved in this unfortunate situation. The books are replete with cases where property, articles and things, are ordered held or produced before the court without regard to the ultimate rights which may be affected thereby. The very purpose of this order was to review the custody question as between the parties to the habeas corpus proceeding. The paramount right in this instance was the order of the court that the child be produced. The ultimate rights of the parties involved could in no way affect the validity of the temporary charge placed upon the defendants that they should see to it that the child was produced on the day and at the time ordered. The situation would not be altered by the fact that an infant was involved rather than an inanimate object or a sum of money or some other article or thing which the court might have ordered produced at a given time. Clearly, had the court ordered the defendant Harold Cook to bring money in his possession before the court on a day certain, he would not have felt that

he had the right to turn it over to one of the persons who asserted that he had some right therein. Particularly where he knew that another was asserting rights therein which were to be the subject of the proceeding before the court.

POINT IV

No prejudicial error appears in the record stemming from the Court's ruling giving the defendant Harold Cook an opportunity to produce the child.

The fact that the Court after having pronounced judgment upon defendant for contempt of court felt constrained to give him an opportunity of securing forgiveness of a portion of that judgment can in no way be advanced as prejudicial error by the defendant. This is a matter favorable to the defendant, of which he has no cause to complain. The judgment of the Court was not conditional, but the court announced the following pronouncement of judgment that under certain circumstances he would remit a portion of that judgment. So long as the judgment of contempt is itself sustainable, which it clearly is, the fact that the court was willing to lessen the stringency of that judgment regardless of the terms, is not prejudicial to the defendant.

The fact that the court sought to rectify an otherwise unsatisfactory situation of the father in

the service having taken physical custody of the child under circumstances where he obviously could not take care of the child and adequately supervise the child, an infant of three years, and would be wholly unable to attend to the child's needs, and to bring about a condition where the child could be properly attended by his mother as it should under Utah Law, is a laudable thing, rather than a matter of censure as defendant would seem by his argument to indicate.

The facts as they exist with reference to the status of the father of the child and the obvious inability to make him a party or even suspect or anticipate the need for such action, are such as to eliminate any force or effect of defendant's argument based upon failure to include the father of the child in the habeas corpus proceeding; and the argument, apparently designed to indicate her general unfitness to have custody of the child, is completely eliminated by the finding of the court in the habeas corpus proceeding that the mother is a fit and proper person to have custody of the child, from which finding the defendant has not appealed. The mother quite obviously had not forfeited any custodial rights, and there is no merit to the argument along these lines.

POINT V

The Court acted within its jurisdiction in sentencing the Defendant for contempt. The findings of the Court and its conclusions therefrom as stated in the record were sufficient to authorize the judgment of contempt. Any further findings of the Court were waived.

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